RECEIVED

Mar 19 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County
Hon. Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2022-001287

THE STATERESPONDENT,

v.

EUGENE TURNER, JR APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Robert M. Dudek
S.C. Commission on Indigent Defense
PO Box 11433
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-1343

Miles E. Coleman
Adam McCoy
NELSON MULLINS RILEY & SCARBOROUGH LLP
2 W. Washington Street
Suite 400
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 373-2300

Attorneys for Appellant

March 19, 2024

INTRODUCTION

This appeal raises two issues, both of which arise from undisputed facts and are controlled by established law, and on both of which the trial court ruled incorrectly. Either of the issues warrants reversal.

First, the trial court abused its discretion and committed reversible error by denying Eugene Turner, Jr.'s motion for immunity from prosecution for shots he fired (without hitting anything) after he was attacked by a man with a history of violence towards him and who had threatened his life. South Carolina Supreme Court precedent dictates that this Court reverse. The trial court erred in three ways: (1) it committed an error of law by concluding that Mr. Turner failed to prove that he was under attack; (2) it failed to make specific findings on each element of self-defense which makes appellate review difficult and constitutes reversible error; and (3) it erred by finding that Mr. Turner failed to prove the elements of self-defense, which rested on factual conclusions that lack support in the record. Any of these errors provide sufficient grounds for this Court to reverse the trial court and either to conclude that Mr. Turner is entitled to immunity or, at minimum, to remand this case for a new hearing on whether Mr. Turner meets the Act's requirements and to grant a new trial.

Second, the trial court erred by denying Mr. Turner's motion for a mistrial after the State's first witness violated a stipulation and implied that Mr. Turner had been the subject of a child abuse investigation. The record shows that the parties entered the stipulation because the trial court and prosecutor agreed that even mentioning these allegations would be so prejudicial to Mr. Turner as to taint the jury beyond recovery. But that's exactly what happened. This evidence was even more harmful to Mr. Turner because the State's case depended heavily on discrediting Mr. Turner while strengthening the credibility of its own witnesses. Mr. Turner's credibility suffered irreversible

damage when the jury heard harmful testimony that implicated him as the subject of a child abuse investigation. Thus, the trial court abused its discretion by refusing to grant a mistrial, and this Court should reverse and remand for a new trial.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the trial court erred by denying Mr. Turner’s motion for immunity under South Carolina’s Protection of Persons and Property Act.
2. Whether the trial court erred by denying Mr. Turner’s motion for mistrial caused by a violation of SCRE 403 through the admission of testimony that was substantially more prejudicial than probative.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State of South Carolina charged Mr. Turner with the attempted murder of Angela Anderson, Nachrisha Rosemond, Kimberly Pickens, Christine Wolfe-Young, and Daniel Stokes (collectively, “Alleged Victims”), and one count of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime based on allegations arising from an incident which occurred on September 1, 2017. (R. p. 29, lines 1–9.) The trial took place in the Greenville County Court of General Sessions from September 6, 2022, to September 9, 2022.

Before the start of the trial, Mr. Turner moved for immunity from prosecution under the Protection of Persons and Property Act, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 16-11-410, *et seq.* (“Act”) (“Motion for Immunity”). (R. p. 47, line 23–p. 48, line 1.) The trial court denied the Motion for Immunity, erroneously concluding that the Act was inapplicable, and finding that Mr. Turner failed to meet the requirements of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(c) by a preponderance of the evidence. (R. p. 239, line 2–p. 240, line 24.) The trial court reached this conclusion despite failing to make specific findings on each element of self-defense under the Act, as required by binding precedent.

After the ruling denying Mr. Turner’s Motion for Immunity, but before trial, Mr. Turner moved to preclude the State and its witnesses from repeating unfounded accusations that he had allegedly engaged in criminal sexual conduct with a minor who was related to some of the Alleged Victims. (R. p. 241, line 23–p. 242, line 2.) At the trial court’s direction, counsel for Mr. Turner and counsel for the State agreed that the alleged incident would be referred to only as a “family incident.” (R. p. 242, line 3–p. 243, line 9.) The purpose of the stipulation was to avoid any unfair prejudice against Mr. Turner, and the trial court instructed the Alleged Victims that “it’s very important that y’all comply with that stipulation.” (R. p. 242, lines 11–12.) Yet, Mr. Stokes—the State’s first witness—violated the stipulation. (R. p. 272, lines 8–24.) Mr. Turner then moved for a mistrial (“Motion for Mistrial”) on the grounds that Mr. Stokes’s testimony implied that the allegations against Mr. Turner involved a minor and that this was unfairly prejudicial to Mr. Turner. (R. p. 272, line 25–p. 274, line 12.) The trial court denied the Motion for Mistrial. (R. p. 274, lines 13–18.)

After the trial, the jury convicted Mr. Turner of one count of attempted murder, one count of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, and three counts of assault and battery in the first degree. (R. p. 814, line 9–p. 816, line 13.) Mr. Turner then renewed his Motion for Immunity and Motion for Mistrial, which the trial court denied. (R. p. 817, line 25–p. 818, line 7.) The trial court sentenced Mr. Turner to eighteen years for attempted murder, eight years for each conviction of assault and battery in the first degree, and five years for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. (R. p. 822, lines 11–18.) The trial court ruled that these sentences would run concurrently, and that Mr. Turner would receive credit for 1,829 days of time already served and home incarceration. (R. p. 822, lines 13–14.) Mr. Turner timely filed his notice of appeal in this Court on September 12, 2022. (*See* Notice of Appeal.)

FACTS

I. Mr. Turner's Relationship with the Alleged Victims

Mr. Turner met the Alleged Victims through his romantic relationship with Latoya “Monique” Fletcher. (R. p. 144, line 11–p. 145, line 6.) Before her relationship with Mr. Turner, Ms. Fletcher had a romantic relationship with Mr. Stokes, with whom she has a child and stepchild. (R. p. 144, lines 16–17.) Christine Wolfe-Young is Mr. Stokes’s sister. (R. p. 277, lines 17–18.) Angela Anderson is married to Mr. Stokes, and she was his fiancée at the time of the incident giving rise to this case. (R. p. 267, lines 2–18.) Mr. Turner met Nachrisha Rosemond, who is Mr. Stokes and Ms. Wolfe-Young’s cousin, through Ms. Fletcher. (R. p. 392, lines 18–22.) Kimberly Pickens is Ms. Rosemond’s fiancée. (R. p. 392, line 20.) Mr. Turner and Mr. Stokes interacted regularly at family events while Mr. Stokes and Ms. Fletcher continued to coparent their children during Mr. Turner’s relationship with Ms. Fletcher. (R. p. 270, line 10–p. 271, line 24.)

II. Mr. Stokes's Attack on Mr. Turner and His Vehicle

On August 14, 2013, there was an incident involving Ms. Fletcher’s daughter which led to Mr. Stokes’s attack on Mr. Turner and his vehicle. (R. p. 49, line 24–p. 52, line 6.) Mr. Turner was supervising Ms. Fletcher’s daughter when she wrapped a roll of 3M tape around her leg and foot. (R. p. 145, lines 9–14.) Mr. Turner took a picture of this and sent it to Ms. Fletcher. (R. p. 145, lines 9–15.) Ms. Fletcher told Mr. Turner that the children were to stay with Mr. Stokes that weekend. (R. p. 145, lines 15–22.) After Mr. Stokes arrived at Ms. Fletcher’s house, he jumped out of the car and shouted, “Shut the fuck up, bitch.” (R. p. 148, lines 1–6.) Mr. Stokes then approached Mr. Turner and began hitting Mr. Turner’s car. (R. p. 148, lines 8–9.) After Mr. Stokes and Mr. Turner came to blows, Mr. Turner ran away from Mr. Stokes, fearing that he had a gun. (R. p. 148, lines

11–19.) Mr. Stokes then rammed his own car into a fence and destroyed Mr. Turner’s car with a machete. (R. p. 148, line 20–p. 149, line 4.) Police arrived at the scene and arrested Mr. Stokes for maliciously damaging Mr. Turner’s car with a machete. (R. p. 50, lines 19–23, R. p. 51, lines 12–18.) Mr. Stokes was tried and found guilty of this crime. (R. p. 52, lines 2–6.)

III. Allegations against Mr. Turner of Criminal Sexual Conduct

On December 1, 2016, the police and the Department of Social Services (“DSS”) responded to a complaint that Mr. Turner had engaged in criminal sexual conduct with a minor. (R. p. 55, line 15–p. 56, line 11.) The alleged victim was Ms. Fletcher’s daughter. (R. p. 56, lines 6–23.) The investigation revealed that Ms. Fletcher’s daughter accused Mr. Turner of inappropriately touching her leg while she was driving a vehicle. (R. p. 69, lines 12–16.) During the investigation, Mr. Turner explained to the police and DSS that he believed that the alleged victim’s father, Mr. Stokes, had persuaded her to make these accusations. (R. p. 66, lines 1–5.) No charges were ever brought against Mr. Turner based on these allegations. (R. p. 60, lines 21–23.)

IV. Social Media Posts by the Alleged Victims Threatening Mr. Turner’s Life

On January 13, 2017, Mr. Stokes, through his Facebook page called “Lethal Cutz,” began posting threats against Mr. Turner’s life. (R. p. 80, line 24–p. 81, line 11.) Mr. Stokes posted a picture of Mr. Turner and threatened him as follows:

His name is Eugene Turner!!!! If you see this bitch ass child malester [sic] call the police before I get to hem [sic] because on my family and life he done all my niggas *green light mash on sight!!* Its face off fuck boy not god, not my mama, not Police, not your mama can save you on the Shao *u dead bitch!!!*

(R. p. 842 (emphasis added).)

According to the testimony of Amanda Donald, an experienced investigator who formerly worked for the South Carolina Department of Probation and Parole, a “green light” is “giving anyone a go ahead, permission to either assault someone, inflict bodily harm, or kill that person.” (R. p. 81, line 24–p. 82, line 6.)

On January 14, 2017, Ms. Wolfe-Young shared Mr. Stokes’s Facebook post:

Family & Friends Please Beware !!! Any man that does this to a child is sick !! I’m praying for this little girl, her mother and family as well. TO think this man has daughters the same age . So many of my friends , social clubs and his own family and friends (including myself) have partied ,hung out and had our kids around him never knowing his wicked thoughts and ways.
I’m giving it to God because if the law don’t get you *the streets will....*

(R. p. 846 (emphasis added).)

On January 14, 2017, Ms. Wolfe-Young posted another threat on Facebook:

You Can Run But I Promise You Can’t Hide For Long. The Truth Will Be Told And You Blocking Me And Everyone Who Knows What You Did Was Expected. I Knew He Would, But Before He Did I Retrieved All His Family And Friends Information From Georgia , Including Siblings & Kids Mother’s. I Have Made Some Aware Of What Happened And Will Continue TO Alert The Others Of What He Did To My Niece (Lethal Cutz) 13 Year Old Daughter. I Advocate For The Children And I Promise To Keep Any And Everyone Informed Of What This Sick Bastard Did To This Baby & One Of Her Female Cousins. Until This Dud Is Convicted & Behind Bars Awareness Will Not Stop !!!

(R. p. 848.)

Ms. Anderson and Ms. Rosemond then commented on this post:

Angela Anderson: Bitch better Go have several Seats

Nikki Rose: If they know whats best they will go get a life and sit down cause we RIDE IN PACKS AND RIDE FOR OURS.....ANYTIME ANYDAY ABY HOUR FACTZ

Nikki Rose: And Turn all talks into ACTION... MISERY LOVES
COMPANY I SEE AND SOMEONE IS MISERABLE

(R. p. 847.)

Several days later, on January 17, 2017, Mr. Stokes went live on Facebook to threaten Mr.

Turner a second time as transcribed below:

Yo, yo, yo,
Your boy had a great day
Just checking in to let you know that I'm about
To clock outta this clock
And get on another clock
Ni**a I'm still looking for your bitch ass
Alright
Think you done fucked up
Fuckin around ni**a
I don't give a damn nobody say
*Can't nobody save you ni**a*
You better pray to Allah, Buddha and Shania
Twain
Cause bitch *I'm coming*

(R. p. 843–844 (emphasis added).) Ms. Wolfe-Young shared this post. (R. p. 843.)

V. Mr. Turner's Fear after Seeing the Alleged Victims' Social Media Posts

Mr. Turner saw these social media posts because he was Facebook friends with Ms. Wolfe-Young, and he believed—understandably, based on past conduct and plain language—that these posts were threats to his life. (R. p. 152, line 17–p. 153, line 4.) Mr. Turner was “[t]errified” by these posts and “felt threatened” by them. (R. p. 154, line 18; R. p. 155, line 3.) Mr. Turner believed that the Alleged Victims were trying to harm him. (R. p. 156, lines 17–19.) After reading those posts, Mr. Turner “tried to stay home and go back to Georgia” to avoid being harmed. (R. p. 157, lines 5–6.) Mr. Turner also went to the Greenville County Sheriff's Department to try to talk to an investigator. (R. p. 157, lines 20–24.) Mr. Turner even hired a private attorney to investigate these

threats to his life. (R. p. 157, line 25–R. p. 158, line 5.) He feared for his life from the time he saw the social media posts until he encountered the Alleged Victims on September 1, 2017, which was the first time he had seen them since the posts were made. (R. p. 158, lines 7–13.)

VI. Mr. Turner’s Medical Condition and His Impaired Mobility

In November 2015, Mr. Turner suffered a back injury while working for BMW. (R. p. 139, line 14–p. 140, line 3.) Mr. Turner had surgery on his back in 2016, which resulted in nerve damage and numbness to his right leg. (R. p. 140, lines 20–21; R. p. 141, lines 3–13.) Mr. Turner was suffering from this medical condition on September 1, 2017, which caused numbness in his toes and made it difficult for him to move. (R. p. 141, lines 14–15; R. p. 143, line 21–p. 144, line 10; R. p. 156, line 25–p. 157, line 1.)

VII. The Incident at The Dugout on September 1, 2017

On the night of September 1, 2017, Mr. Turner went to meet some friends at a club in Greenville County called the Dugout. (R. p. 159, lines 2–9.) Someone at the Dugout told Mr. Turner that Ms. Fletcher was also there, so he ordered her a drink, which he delivered to her without speaking. (R. p. 159, lines 9–19.) Soon after that, Mr. Turner received a phone call, and he walked outside to answer it. (R. p. 160, lines 4–7.) Mr. Turner told his friend on the phone that he intended to leave the Dugout soon because Ms. Fletcher was there. (R. p. 160, lines 7–10.) Mr. Turner went back inside the Dugout before soon leaving again to return to the parking lot. (R. p. 160, line 21–p. 161, line 8.)

While Mr. Turner was in the parking lot, he saw the lights of a vehicle approaching rapidly. (R. p. 160, line 25–p. 161, line 3.) He heard Ms. Wolfe-Young, who was also standing outside the

Dugout, say, “[Mr. Turner is] right here.” (R. p. 160, line 21–p. 161, line 4.) At that point, Mr. Turner could not tell who was approaching him because his back was turned. (R. p. 161, lines 5–7.) Then Mr. Turner heard Mr. Stokes yell obscenities while he was walking towards Mr. Turner. (R. p. 161, lines 9–14.)

When Mr. Turner turned around to face Mr. Stokes, he saw that Mr. Stokes was only about ten steps away from him. (R. p. 161, lines 14–15.) As Mr. Stokes continued towards him, Mr. Turner reached into his car and grabbed a pistol. (R. p. 161, lines 19–21.) Mr. Stokes came closer to Mr. Turner, so Mr. Turner cocked the pistol to show Mr. Stokes that he was armed. (R. p. 161, lines 21–23.) Rather than stopping or retreating, Mr. Stokes continued to approach Mr. Turner and appeared to reach into his pocket for a gun. (R. p. 161, line 24; R. p. 184, lines 8–12.)

At that time, Mr. Turner feared for his life and believed that he would be seriously injured or killed. (R. p. 165, line 12–p. 166, line 3; p. 172, lines 9–23.) As a result of this fear, Mr. Turner fired the pistol several times in Mr. Stokes’s direction, and Mr. Stokes then ran to his vehicle. (R. p. 186, lines 7–14; R. p. 206, lines 6–9.) No shot hit Mr. Stokes, his vehicle, or anyone else. (R. p. 186, lines 17–20.) Mr. Stokes then pulled away in his vehicle with Ms. Rosemond, Ms. Anderson, and Ms. Pickens, who remained unharmed. (R. p. 187, lines 3–4.)

VIII. Mr. Turner’s Retreat to Georgia, Return to Greenville, 9-1-1 Call, and Arrest

A couple of days after this incident, Mr. Turner returned to his home state of Georgia, where most of his family and friends lived, because he felt safer there than he did in Greenville. (R. p. 167, line 17–p. 168, line 3.) Mr. Turner stayed in Georgia for a day before coming back to Greenville. (R. p. 168, lines 4–8.) A few days later, Mr. Turner heard banging on his door, and he thought that

Mr. Stokes had come to retaliate. (R. p. 168, lines 17–23.)

Mr. Turner then called 9-1-1, thinking that Mr. Stokes might be at his door because “the green light [was] already out on my head.” (R. p. 169, lines 11–12.) Only four people knew where he lived, so Mr. Turner believed that Ms. Fletcher must have told Mr. Stokes, which was “the only thing [he] could think about” when he called 9-1-1. (R. p. 169, lines 14–18.) Thus, Mr. Turner was in fear for his life when he heard these bangs on his door, believing that Mr. Stokes was there to fulfill the threats that he had made on Facebook. (R. p. 169, line 19–p. 170, line 4.) Mr. Turner later learned when law enforcement came to arrest him that the police had been outside his door when he called 9-1-1. (R. p. 170, lines 7–10.)

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court Erred by Denying Mr. Turner’s Motion For Immunity Under South Carolina’s Protection of Persons and Property Act.

Prior to trial, Mr. Turner sought to invoke the immunity of the Act. The Act codifies the common law Castle Doctrine because “no person ... should be required to surrender his personal safety to a criminal, nor should a person ... be required to needlessly retreat in the face of intrusion or attack.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-420(E). Under the Act, a person has no duty to retreat and may stand his ground and meet force with force, including deadly force, if (a) he is attacked in a place where he has a right to be, and (b) he reasonably believes it is necessary to respond with force to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C). “[W]ords accompanied by hostile acts may, depending on the circumstances, establish a plea of self-defense.” *State v. Dickey*, 394 S.C. 491, 501, 716 S.E.2d 97, 102 (2011) (quoting *State v. Fuller*, 297 S.C. 440, 444, 377 S.E.2d 328, 331 (1989)). “Once the right to fire [a weapon] in self-defense arises, a

defendant is not required to wait until his adversary is on equal terms or until he has fired or aimed his weapon in order to act.” *State v. Starnes*, 340 S.C. 312, 322, 531 S.E.2d 907, 913 (2000) (citing *State v. Hendrix*, 270 S.C. 653, 244 S.E.2d 503 (1978)).

A. Standard Of Review

“A claim of immunity under the Act requires a pretrial determination using a preponderance of the evidence standard, which this court reviews under an abuse of discretion standard of review.” *State v. Jones*, 416 S.C. 283, 290, 786 S.E.2d 132, 136 (2016) (quoting *State v. Curry*, 406 S.C. 364, 370, 752 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2013) (internal quotation marks omitted)); see *State v. Duncan*, 392 S.C. 404, 411, 709 S.E.2d 662, 665 (2011) (recognizing that the proper standard for the trial court to use in determining immunity under the Act is a preponderance of the evidence). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support. *Jones*, 416 S.C. at 290, 786 S.E.2d at 136 (citing *State v. Pittman*, 373 S.C. 527, 647 S.E.2d 144 (2007)).

B. The Trial Court Abused Its Discretion by Concluding that S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C) was Inapplicable Because There was Supposedly Insufficient Evidence that Mr. Turner was Under Attack.

The trial court erroneously concluded that S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C) was inapplicable because (in the trial court’s view) there was insufficient evidence presented during the immunity hearing to show by a preponderance of the evidence an actual or imminent attack on Mr. Turner as required to invoke the Act. (R. p. 240, lines 17–24.) Contrary to the trial court’s conclusion, however, the evidence from the immunity hearing shows (1) that Mr. Turner was attacked, (2) that he was in a place where he had a lawful right to be, and (3) that he reasonably believed that his use

of force (which, in his case, was merely a display of force that caused no harm to anyone) was necessary to prevent bodily harm. Accordingly, S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C) applies.

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