RECEIVED

Apr 18 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
The Honorable Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-001287

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

EUGENE TURNER, JR.,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOSHUA A. EDWARDS
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 15608

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

W. WALTER WILKINS
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit
305 E. North St.
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 467-8647

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I. Evidence supports the trial court's denial of immunity where Turner's incredible testimony at the pretrial hearing was contradicted by the victims' statements and physical evidence at the scene.

Turner claims the trial court abused its discretion by refusing to grant him immunity from prosecution pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-410–50. Evidence supports the trial court's finding that Turner failed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that he acted in self-defense. This Court should affirm.

Standard of Review.

A denial of immunity under PPPA is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. State v. Cervantes-Pavon, 426 S.C. 442, 449, 827 S.E.2d 564, 567 (2019). A circuit court abuses its discretion when its ruling is based on an error of law, or when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support. Id.

The trial court made sufficient findings.

As an initial matter, Turner's claim that the trial court's failed to make specific findings on the elements of self-defense is not preserved for review. Turner made no objection below to the sufficiency of the trial court's ruling. An issue may not be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled on by the trial judge to be preserved for review. State v. Carlson, 363 S.C. 586, 595, 611 S.E.2d 283, 287 (Ct. App. 2005). This claim is not preserved for review. See State v. Collins, 409 S.C. 524, 535, 763 S.E.2d 22, 28 n.4 (2014) (rejecting claim that trial court did not conduct proper 403 analysis where appellant did not "object to any alleged delict in the trial court's procedure at the time of the ruling").

Even if preserved, the trial court made sufficient findings to enable review. Turner asserts the trial judge failed to "consider and address" the elements of self-defense. Brief of Appellant at 13. However, the trial court did address the elements of self-defense in its ruling,

and the record demonstrates the court considered specific testimony and made appropriate factual determinations. After a full hearing and lengthy arguments by the attorneys, which focused heavily on the facts, the trial court adjourned for the day. The next morning, the court announced its ruling denying immunity and explained why he found Turner failed to show he acted in self-defense. (R. 239-240).

The court did not find Turner's version of events to be credible. It explained: "... part of my job is to determine credibility. And I think there's ... definitely holes in the story as far as being able to establish self-defense" (R. 239). The court found there were inconsistencies in Turner's statement to police and the version of events he gave on the stand and in comparison to the video. (R. 239-240). While the court did not list them, there are inconsistencies discussed below.

The court made findings relevant to Turner's reasonable apprehension of harm, noting Turner stated in his 911 call there had been "drama," but never claimed he acted in self-defense. (R. 239). The court also referenced the "reasonable person" standard, although it did not explicitly state its finding that Turner's conduct did not meet that standard. (R. 240:7-9). Finally, the court noted there was an "issue of whether he's without fault in bringing about the difficulty in the fact that there was testimony that he knew ... that person would be there." (R. 241:10-12).

While the court could have given a more detailed explanation of its findings, it is evident the court conscientiously considered the testimony and applicable law before ruling. Under the abuse of discretion standard, the appellate court is primarily concerned with whether the trial court exercised its discretion. This means the trial court "must think through" the issue with which it is presented "and must thoughtfully apply the correct law to the information and

evidence before it.” State v. Wallace, 440 S.C. 537, 543, 892 S.E.2d 310, 313 (2023). If “the record reflects the trial court ‘exercise[ed] its discretion according to law,’ [the appellate court] will almost always affirm the ruling.” Id. (quoting Morris v. BB&T Corp., 438 S.C. 582, 586, 885 S.E.2d 394, 397 (2023)). To exercise discretion means to “follow a thought process that begins with the trial court’s clear understanding of the applicable law, continues with the court’s sound analysis of the situation before it in light of the law, and ends with the trial court’s ruling that follows the law and is supported by the facts and circumstances.” Morris v. BB&T Corp., 438 S.C. 582, 587, 885 S.E.2d 394, 397 (2023). See also State v. Cope, 385 S.C. 274, 289, 684 S.E.2d 177, 185 (Ct. App. 2009), aff’d, 405 S.C. 317, 748 S.E.2d 194 (2013) (finding no abuse of discretion in admission of evidence where the “trial court in this case conscientiously considered the proffered anecdotal evidence before excluding this testimony”); Collins, 409 S.C. at 535, 763 S.E.2d at 28 n.4 (finding trial court exercised discretion, noting “the record shows the trial court did thoroughly consider the arguments of both the State and the defense” before evidentiary ruling).

It is often important for the trial court to articulate its findings because this enables the appellate court to review its ruling in an informed manner. State v. Cervantes-Pavon, 426 S.C. 442, 452, 827 S.E.2d 564, 569 n.4 (2019). However, the trial court is not required to spell out its ruling or use any particular verbiage. The question is whether the appellate court can ascertain a legally sufficient basis for the ruling. Cervantes-Pavon, 426 S.C. at 452, 827 S.E.2d at 569 (remanding for new immunity hearing where appellate court was “unable to discern a legally correct basis on which the court relied”).

Turner compares this case to Glenn, but in that case the trial court did not make any factual findings at all, instead resting its ruling exclusively on a legal issue that was later

determined by the Supreme Court to be inapplicable to the facts. State v. Glenn, 429 S.C. 108, 123, 838 S.E.2d 491, 499 (2019) (explaining “the circuit court did not address the elements of self-defense, thereby making appellate review difficult”). That is not the case here, where the trial court applied the correct law and made a fact-based determination that Turner failed to prove he acted in self-defense.

Should this Court determine the circuit court erred by failing to make specific findings, the proper remedy is remand for a new hearing, not reversal of Turner’s convictions. See Cervantes-Pavon, 426 S.C. at 452, 827 S.E.2d at 569. However, remand is not necessary because the basis for the trial court’s is reflected in the record, and evidence supports its ruling.

Evidence supports the trial court’s finding that Turner failed to prove he acted in self-defense.

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C) provides for immunity from criminal prosecution for an alleged crime of violence if the defendant proves at a pretrial hearing that he was attacked in a “place he had a right to be,” and was acting lawfully. In these circumstances, there is no duty to retreat. Alternatively, a defendant may be granted immunity if he proves he acted in self-defense as defined by the common law, including the duty to retreat. State v. Scott, 424 S.C. 463, 473, 819 S.E.2d 116, 120 (2018) (citing §16-11-450(A)). A defendant bears the burden of establishing self-defense by a preponderance of the evidence. State v. Duncan, 392 S.C. 404, 411, 709 S.E.2d 662, 665 (2011).

Turner’s testimony was inherently dubious. Turner testified he was simultaneously urinating and cleaning his car when he “noticed the gun” in his dashboard and moved it underneath the seat. (R. 179-180). He claimed Stokes approached him from behind and called him an insulting name. (R. 161). Turner claimed: “I jumped in my car, reached in my pocket, and grabbed the pistol. And he was getting closer and closer. And when he got closer to me . . . I

cocked the pistol one time. . . . he seemed like he was fidgeting with something. I don't know what he was doing. So I shot, at least, four times." (R. 161-162). Yet Stokes was not hit and no shell casings were recovered from the parking lot.

Turner claimed at the immunity hearing his back was turned when Stokes approached him from behind. (R. 161:14). But he also stated he saw the "doors open" on Stokes's vehicle, and "saw [Stokes] jumping—you know it was all this stuff going on." (R. 164:2-3; 165:4-11). He later claimed "they jumped out of the car" (R. 174:16). But Turner changed his story again, repeating the earlier version of his story that he didn't see Stokes "jump" out of the car, but had his back turned. (R. 175). Turner waived on whether he recognized Stokes's vehicle approaching: "I glanced at it, but then I didn't glance at it." (R. 163:20-21).

Turner's testimony differed from his prior statement to police. He told police he saw Stokes "jump up out the car." (State's Exhibit #20). He said he saw "all four doors open." (State's Exhibit #20). He never told the deputy he had been urinating by his car, but said he was on the phone in front of the dugout and "ran" to his car when he saw Stokes pull up. (State's Exhibit #20). He claimed he got the handgun from the sleeve or "vent" in the car door, and it had been there the entire time. (R. 196:7-9; State's Exhibit #20). Turner admitted he shot at the truck. (State's Exhibit #20). When confronted with the inconsistencies, Turner claimed he "was on medication bad that day." (R. 202:3).

By contrast, Stokes told police Turner approached his driver's side door with a handgun and started shooting. (R. 124-125). Anderson stated Turner "pulled out a firearm and shot at their vehicle while they were in the vehicle." (R. 104:11-13). Pickens told police: "He appeared to be on the phone. He then reached into his pocket and pulled out a gun, black in color. He cocked the gun and pointed it at the car. He pulled the trigger as we're reversing the car. I heard one

shot hit the car. Eugene fired about six more shots following us into the road while we reversed.” (R. 116).

There was no evidence Stokes was armed. Turner admitted he never saw a gun. (R. 174:7-15). He testified Stokes was “messaging with his pocket” as he ran towards him. (R. 184:10-13). Turner testified when he pulled a gun and began firing, Stokes “turned around and ran” back to his vehicle and got in the driver’s seat. (R. 184:24-185:13). Turner admitted he punched Wolfe in the face. (R. 166).

The trial court based its denial of immunity in part on the fact that Turner fired at Stokes’s vehicle “as it was leaving,” when Turner was no longer in danger. (R. 240:13-16). The evidence tended to show Turner fired at Stokes’s vehicle from the roadway, where the 7 shell casings were recovered, not from the parking lot where Turner claimed to feel threatened by Stokes. (R. 122-123). An officer testified there were impressions in the “passenger side and rear” of the vehicle, corroborating victim accounts that Turner fired at the vehicle even after it had reversed down the road, turned around, and started to drive away. (R. 126:17-18; 133-134). This evidence alone supports the trial court’s denial of immunity.

Thus, there was conflicting evidence about the essential facts of the case, and Turner’s testimony was internally inconsistent and inconsistent with his prior statement to police. Turner claims the State “failed to rebut the defendant’s testimony that he saw the victim reach under his shirt for a weapon as he advanced toward the defendant.” Brief of Appellant at 12. However, the victims stated none of them ever got out of Stokes’s vehicle, much less “advanced toward” Turner. (R. 104:10-13; 116:1-6; 124-125).

Turner further claims the trial court erroneously held “§16-11-440(C) was inapplicable.” Brief of Appellant at 12. The trial court did not hold §440(C) was “inapplicable,” except to the

extent that it held Turner failed to meet his burden of proving self-defense. The court specifically cited §440(C) in its ruling. Turner alleges the trial court committed errors of law, but in reality the court merely rejected Turner's incredible version of events.

Turner's testimony was inherently dubious and conflicted with the physical evidence and victims' statements. The record supports the trial court's finding that Turner was not credible and that he failed to prove he acted in self-defense. (R. 239:14-18). This Court should affirm.

II. The trial correctly refused to grant a mistrial based on a witness’s description of prior difficulties between Turner and a victim’s stepchild because the testimony did not reasonably suggest Turner sexually assaulted the child.

Turner claims the trial court abused its discretion by refusing to declare a mistrial after a State’s witness testified prior difficulties between him and Turner “involve[d] a kid.” (R. 274:2). The trial court correctly refused to grant a mistrial because the testimony did not reasonably suggest Turner sexually assaulted the child. This Court should affirm.

Standard of review.

The granting of a mistrial is within the discretion of the trial judge, whose decision will not be overturned on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. State v. Jones, 325 S.C. 310, 317, 479 S.E.2d 517, 520 (Ct. App. 1996).

Discussion.

As discussed above, the bad blood between Turner and Stokes originated from a report that Turner had inappropriately touched Monique Fletcher’s daughter, whom Stokes treated as a stepchild. Before trial, Turner moved to “exclude any reference to the actual charge of molestation, or abuse, or however that was put.” (R. 241:23-25). The parties agreed neither side would introduce evidence of the allegations of sexual assault made against Turner. Defense counsel stated: “the language we have agreed on is something due to the fact of this involved a serious family incident involving a family member.” (R. 242:3-6). The solicitor explained the intent of the stipulation was to exclude reference to “molestation, or sex abuse, or inappropriate touching” (R. 242:22).

Pursuant to the stipulation, the prosecutor asked Stokes on direct examination whether there was “a serious family incident involving a family member,” and Stokes responded there was. (R. 272:8-12). Stokes then admitted he made an angry Facebook post in response. The

solicitor then asked, “did law enforcement get involved?” (R. 272:18-19). Stokes responded: “They were involved. But it was a . . . like, kind of shifty. They were like no evidence yet. Mom hasn’t taken any action or” (R. 272:20-22). Defense counsel objected and the trial court sustained the objection.

Turner then moved for mistrial. He argued, “the implication is out there because he said mother that it’s going to involve a kid.” (R. 274:1-3). Defense counsel asserted the parties agreed there would be no “discussion about kids.” (R. 273:25). The trial court denied the motion for mistrial and Turner declined a curative instruction. (R. 274). Stokes then testified the “serious family incident” involved Turner, that Stokes’s sister called law enforcement, no charges were brought as a result, and the lack of charges upset him. (R. 277-278).

In later testimony, Rosemond referred to the prior difficulties as a “family incident.” (R. 393:22; 408-409). Likewise, during Anderson and Wolfe’s testimony the prior difficulties were referred to as a “serious family incident.” (R. 483:8; 520). Anderson and Wolfe reiterated that no charges were filed against Turner. (R. 484).

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion for mistrial. The granting of a motion for mistrial is an extreme measure that should be taken only when the incident is so grievous the prejudicial effect can be removed in no other way. State v. Bantan, 387 S.C. 412, 417, 692 S.E.2d 201, 203 (Ct. App. 2010). A mistrial should be granted only when absolutely necessary and a defendant must show both error and resulting prejudice to be entitled to a mistrial. Id. “A mistrial should only be granted in cases of manifest necessity and with the greatest caution for very plain and obvious reasons.” Id. (citations omitted).

In his Statement of the Case, Turner improperly asserts Stokes “violated the stipulation.” See Rule 208(b)(1)(C), SCACR (providing Statement of the Case “shall not contain contested

matters”). As the solicitor explained when the parties announced the stipulation, the intent was to exclude reference to “molestation, or sex abuse, or inappropriate touching” (R. 242:22). The stipulation was not that there would be no “discussion about kids.”

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